FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
7/12/2019 4:14 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/15/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Court of Appeals No. 78356-4-I 97429-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STEVEN BURNETT, Respondent,

v.

PAGLIACCI PIZZA, INC., Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

DORSEY & WHITNEY LLP

Michael W. Droke, WSBA #25972 Email: droke.michael@dorsey.com Todd S. Fairchild, WSBA #17654 Email: fairchild.todd@dorsey.com Jasmine Hui, WSBA #49964 Email: hui.jasmine@dorsey.com 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 6100

Seattle, WA 98104-7043 Telephone: (206) 903-8800

Attorneys for Petitioner Pagliacci Pizza, Inc.

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Pagliacci Pizza, Inc. ("Employer") asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

In *Burnett v. Pagliacci Pizza, Inc.*, 2019 Wn. App. LEXIS 1522, 2019 WL 2498721 (No. 78356-4-I, published June 17, 2019), the Court of Appeals refused to enforce a mandatory arbitration policy contained in an employee handbook. This Court has ruled that employee handbooks can be used to create binding "contracts" between an employer and its employees, but the Court of Appeals held that this principle does not apply to mandatory arbitration policies. The Court also dangerously expanded the doctrine of substantive unconscionability by striking down an arbitration agreement based upon a pre-filing mediation requirement that did not have any impact on the filing of an arbitration in this matter.

If allowed to stand, the decision of the Court of Appeals would create a different legal standard for creating binding arbitration agreements than for other terms of employment that are commonly agreed upon through employee handbooks. The employee, Mr. Burnett, was given the handbook containing the mandatory arbitration policy on his first day of work. He was instructed to read the handbook at home, and he was employed for two years

after receiving the handbook. Throughout that time, he received and accepted the various benefits and protections described in the handbook.

Yet the Court refused to enforce the mandatory arbitration policy. The Court held that: (1) the mandatory arbitration policy was procedurally unconscionable because the employee did not read the handbook before his first day of work, and (2) the mandatory arbitration policy was substantively unconscionable because the employer's internal dispute resolution process could *hypothetically* be used to delay filing an arbitration.

The new, higher legal standard applied by the Court of Appeals conflicts with published decisions of this Court. If the Court of Appeals decision remains as precedent binding upon the lower courts, it will negate arbitration policies contained in employee handbooks throughout the State of Washington. The decision also creates a new basis for challenging contracts generally. Under the Court of Appeals decision, the *hypothetical* possibility that a contract clause could have an unfair outcome now renders an entire arbitration agreement unconscionable.

Petitioner asks the court to review the parts of the opinion captioned Enforceability of Arbitration Agreement, Procedural Unconscionability, Substantive Unconscionability and Severance. Petitioner does not seek review the part captioned Existence of Arbitration Agreement. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-28.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does providing an at-will employee with an employee handbook, and requiring him to read it at home and to comply with its terms, deny the employee a meaningful choice and thereby render a mandatory arbitration policy contained in the handbook procedurally unconscionable?
- 2. Does requiring an employee to engage in a non-binding dispute resolution process before commencing arbitration so shock the conscience as to render a mandatory arbitration policy substantively unconscionable?
- 3. Can an entire agreement be struck down as substantively unconscionable based upon a clause that could hypothetically lead to unfair outcome which did not occur?
- 4. If it is substantively unconscionable to require an employee to engage in a non-binding dispute resolution process before commencing an arbitration, should the strong public policy encouraging arbitration require severance of that provision from an arbitration agreement?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Introduction

The case concerns whether Washington State employers can enforce mandatory arbitration policies contained in employee handbooks. Employers throughout the State have adopted mandatory arbitration

policies. Very often they are contained in employee handbooks that apply to all employees. Because Washington State has a strong policy favoring arbitration, and because employers commonly impose mandatory arbitration policies through handbooks, this Petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by the Supreme Court.

This case also involves enforcement of employee handbooks generally. The new and stricter requirements imposed by the Court of Appeals threaten the myriad protections for employees and employers that are contained in handbooks. For example, invalidating the "Mandatory Arbitration Policy"—because the employee did not read the handbook before his first day of work—necessarily invalidates the "Unlawful Harassment Policy" located right below it. This absurd result affects all employees working in Washington State.

Although this Court has issued several decisions regarding the enforceability of terms and conditions contained in employee handbooks, it has not considered those issues in the context of a mandatory arbitration policy. In the absence of Supreme Court precedent addressing mandatory arbitration policies, the Court of Appeals ruled that a mandatory arbitration policy cannot be imposed through an employee handbook. The Court of Appeals held:

Gaglidari [v. Denny's Rests., 117 Wn.2d 426, 815 P.2d 1362 (1991)] does not, as [Employer] contends, stand for the proposition that an employee handbook can create an arbitration agreement enforceable by the employer against its employee. Furthermore, [Employer] cites no Washington authority holding that an employer can foist an arbitration agreement on an employee simply by including an arbitration clause in an employee handbook that is provided to the employee. Therefore, we are not persuaded by [Employer]'s argument that the [employee handbook] created an arbitration agreement merely because [Employee] received a copy of it and continued his employment thereafter.

Ct. App. Op. at 15.

This ruling will create serious problems for Washington State employers. This Court has held that a handbook can create a binding contract between an employer and an at-will employee where the employee receives reasonable notice of the handbook and continues working for the employer. If that rule does not apply to mandatory arbitration policies, then employers will either need to negotiate separate arbitration agreements with all employees or litigate employment disputes in court.

There is no principled basis for distinguishing between arbitration clauses (which are supported by strong public policy) and other provisions in employee handbooks. Left standing, the decision would create uncertainty regarding the enforceability of any handbook provision not specifically addressed by this Court. This petition involves an issue of substantial public interest because employers need certainty and uniformity regarding handbooks and the arbitration of employee disputes.

The Court of Appeals also refused to enforce the mandatory arbitration policy because it required existing employees to participate in a non-binding dispute resolution process before filing a claim in arbitration. That process required an employee to discuss a claim with his or her supervisor, and possibly a second "responsible person," before commencing arbitration. The Court found that policy to be substantively unconscionable based on speculation that the employer could drag out the discussions and significantly shorten the three-year statute of limitations applicable to an employee's claim. That hypothetical set of facts did not occur.

It is common for arbitration agreements to require some sort of non-binding mediation as a pre-condition to filing a claim in arbitration. If such provisions were *per se* unconscionable because one party or another could hypothetically drag out the mediation process and create an unfair outcome, it would create an entirely new basis for attacking contractual provisions generally. Under that logic, the mere possibility that a clause in a contract could create an unfair outcome would allow a party to challenge the entire agreement as unconscionable. Such a rule would create doubt and unpredictability with regard to the drafting and enforceability of contracts.

The Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with numerous decisions of this Court and of the Court of Appeals, and it undermines the strong public policy in favor of arbitration. *See Verbeek Props., LLC v.*

GreenCo Envt'l., *Inc.*, 159 Wn. App. 82, 86-87, 246 P.3d 205, 207 (2010) ("Courts must indulge every presumption in favor of arbitration, whether the problem at hand is the construction of the contract language itself or an allegation of waiver, delay, or a like defense to arbitrability.")

2. Procedural Posture

On October 3, 2017, Employee filed suit in the Superior Court of the State of Washington for King County. Employer filed a motion to compel arbitration of Employee's claims based on the Mandatory Arbitration Policy. The Superior Court denied Employer's motion, stating: "The Court finds there is no agreement to arbitrate." CP 227. Employer moved for reconsideration (CP 228-320) which was denied. CP 321-22. Employer appealed, and the Superior Court stayed the trial court proceedings pending appellate review. The appeal was decided by the Published Opinion dated June 17, 2019. This petition followed.

3. Employee Began and Continued His Employment For Two Years After Receiving Notice of the Handbook Containing the Mandatory Arbitration Policy.

Petitioner Pagliacci Pizza, Inc. ("Employer") is a pizzeria chain that employs hundreds of employees at dozens of locations in the greater Seattle area. CP 21. Employer employed Steven Burnett ("Employee") as a delivery driver from October 2015 to July 2017. CP 58; CP 3 at ¶ 3.1.

On his first day of work, Employee signed an "Employee Relationship Agreement" (CP 58) and was given Pagliacci's employee handbook, the Little Book of Answers (the "Handbook"). CP 60-73. The Handbook contains a Mandatory Arbitration Policy covering the types of claims alleged here. CP 71. By signing the Employee Relationship Agreement, Employee expressly agreed that he would "learn and comply with the rules and policies outlined in" the Handbook. CP 58.

After Employee ceased working for Employer, he filed a putative class action lawsuit alleging 'wage and hour' claims under various municipal ordinances and state laws and regulations. CP 1-20. He alleges that Employer failed to provide all required compensation, rest and meal breaks to himself and other pizza delivery drivers. *Id*.

The Handbook that Employee received on his first day of work states on page one that Employee was required to comply with the policies contained therein:

OBLIGATION

By working here, you agree to comply with the contents of this book and with the written plans and policies that are referenced in it.

CP 62. One of the policies that Employee was required to comply with is the Mandatory Arbitration Policy contained in the Handbook:

MANDATORY ARBITRATION POLICY

The company has a mandatory arbitration policy with which you must comply for the binding resolution of disputes without lawsuits. If you believe you have been a victim of illegal harassment or discrimination or that you have not been paid for all hours worked or at less than the rate of pay required by law or that the termination of your employment was wrongful, you submit the dispute to resolution in accordance with the F.A.I.R. Policy and if those procedures are not successful in resolving the dispute, you then submit the dispute to binding arbitration before a neutral arbitrator pursuant to the Washington Arbitration Act.

CP 71 (emphasis added).

Employee admits that during his initial orientation he "was given a copy of the [Handbook] and told to read it at home." CP 142 at ¶ 8. It is undisputed that he continued working for almost two years after receiving a copy of the Handbook on his first day and being instructed to read it.

The Handbook also contains a policy (the "F.A.I.R. Policy") aimed at resolving disputes without the need for arbitration. CP 70. The policy requires an existing employee to report a concern to his or her supervisor before filing an arbitration. *Id.* If the supervisor does not resolve the matter to the employee's satisfaction, then the employee can request a face-to-face "conciliation" with another responsible person, who may be the owner of the company. *Id.* The conciliation process is expressly "non-binding." *Id.*

Employee was no longer employed by Employer when he filed suit, and therefore he did not have a supervisor or use the F.A.I.R. Policy. Critically, Employer has <u>never</u> argued that Employee waived his right to an arbitration because the F.A.I.R. process was not used.

The Court of Appeals found that "an agreement to arbitrate exists here but that the agreement is unconscionable and unenforceable." Ct. App. Op. at 5. Specifically, the Court found that: (1) the agreement to arbitrate is procedurally unconscionable because Employee "did not have a reasonable opportunity to review the arbitration policy" before he signed the Employee Relationship Agreement; (2) the agreement to arbitrate is substantively unconscionable because Employee was required to engage in an internal dispute resolution process before filing an arbitration; and (3) the F.A.I.R. Policy could not be severed from the agreement.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. The Petition Involves an Issue of Substantial Public Interest that Should Be Determined by the Supreme Court Because It Concerns the Enforceability of Benefits and Protections Found in Hundreds of Thousands of Employee Handbooks in Washington State.

This Court has held that employers can use employee handbooks to create binding contracts, but the Court has not addressed this principle in the context of a mandatory arbitration policy. Mandatory arbitration policies are imposed by thousands of employers throughout the State of Washington. The Court of Appeals has recognized the policy reasons

favoring use of employee handbooks to establish, and modify, terms and conditions of employment:

[I]n the modern economic climate, the operating policies of a business enterprise must be adaptable and responsive to change. An employer that could not change its policies without renegotiating with each employee could find itself obligated in a variety of different ways to any number of different employees. The resulting confusion and uncertainty would not be conducive to harmonious labor-management relations.

Govier v. N. Sound Bank, 91 Wn. App. 493, 500-01, 957 P.2d 811, 816 (1998) (emphasis added) (citations and internal punctuation omitted).

Washington State employers need to know what language and procedures are required to create enforceable arbitration policies. The public policy favoring arbitration is thwarted if a mandatory arbitration policy is unenforceable because the employee did not read the policy before commencing his employment or based upon speculation that an employer might engage in misconduct to delay the filing of an arbitration.

2. The Decision Directly Conflicts with Published Decisions of the Supreme Court Regarding Enforceability of Contracts Formed with Employee Handbooks, Severely Undermining Protections in Washington State.

This Court held that an employee is contractually bound by terms found in an employee handbook where the employee has reasonable notice of the handbook. *Gaglidari v. Denny's Rests.*, 117 Wn.2d 426, 815 P.2d 1362 (1991). In *Gaglidari*, the employee was notified of one employee

handbook when her employment began. Many years later, the employer notified her of a second handbook which "contained the provision that fighting on company premises was grounds for immediate dismissal." *Id.* at 429, 815 P.2d at 1364. The employee was contractually bound by the 'no fighting' provision, even though it was unilaterally imposed by the employer years after the employee began working for the employer. *Id.* at 433-34, 815 P.2d at 1366-67.

This Court described the issue it was deciding as follows: "Whether the employee handbooks, distributed to plaintiff, for which she signed an acknowledgment agreeing to abide by their rules and policies and which contained termination procedures, created a contract between defendant and plaintiff." *Id.* at 432, 815 P.2d at 1365. This Court held that the employee, Ms. Gaglidari, was contractually bound by those rules and policies. *Id.* at 435, 815 P.2d at 1367. The Court made it clear that when an employer provides notice to an employee of terms of employment contained in a handbook, the handbook becomes a contract binding upon the employer and employee. *Id.* at 433-34, 815 P.2d at 1366-67.

The Court of Appeals found that the issue in *Gaglidari* was "solely" whether the *employer* had agreed to follow certain procedures before terminating the employee. Ct. App. Op. at 15. The Court of Appeals held:

In short, the *Gaglidari* court considered whether a contract was formed between Denny's and Gaglidari solely to determine what, if any, procedures an employer had agreed to follow before terminating an employee and whether the employer had complied with those procedures. *Gaglidari*, 117 Wn.2d at 431.

Gaglidari does not, as Pagliacci contends, stand for the proposition that an employee handbook can create an arbitration agreement enforceable by the employer against its employee. Furthermore, Pagliacci cites no Washington authority holding that an employer can foist an arbitration agreement on an employee simply by including an arbitration clause in an employee handbook that is provided to the employee. Therefore, we are not persuaded by Pagliacci's argument that the Little Book created an arbitration agreement merely because Burnett received a copy of it and continued his employment thereafter.

Id.

That decision conflicts with decisions of this Court and of the Court of Appeals holding that an employer can unilaterally impose new conditions of employment by giving reasonable notice of an employee handbook or changes to the handbook. *Gaglidari* shows that an employer can impose new terms of employment on existing, at-will employees simply by amending a handbook and giving employees notice that the conditions of their employment have changed.

3. The Decision Conflicts with Published Court of Appeals Decisions Regarding Enforceability of Contracts Formed With Employee Handbooks.

The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *Govier v. N. Sound Bank*, 91 Wn. App. 493, 957 P.2d 811 (1998). Two years after Deborah Govier began working for North Sound Bank, "the bank presented her with

a new employment agreement that substantially changed the terms of her previous employment." *Id.* at 494, 957 P.2d at 813. The Court of Appeals rejected Govier's argument that the Bank was required to give her advance notice of the changes before they became effective. *Id.* at 502, 957 P.2d at 816. The Court reached the same conclusion in *Tjart v. Smith Barney, Inc.*, 107 Wn. App. 885, 28 P.3d 823 (2001). The Court held that the plaintiff-employee was bound by an arbitration clause contained in a form "application" that she was "told to sign" after her employment began. *Tjart*, 107 Wn. App. at 896-97, 28 P.3d at 829.

Here, Employee worked as a delivery driver for almost two years after receiving a copy of the Handbook. Like the plaintiff in *Tjart*, he "had a reasonable opportunity to understand that [he] was agreeing to arbitrate [his] future claims." *Id.* at 898-99; 28 P.3d at 830. He also had a "meaningful choice" whether to continue his at-will employment with Employer or to "choose employment elsewhere." *Romney v. Franciscan Med. Grp.*, 186 Wn. App. 728, 740, 349 P.3d 32, 38 (2015).

The Court of Appeals applied the legal principle described in *Gaglidari* in the context of a terminable-at-will pricing agreement between an insurance company and a company that repairs automobile windshields. *Cascade Auto Glass, Inc. v. Progressive Cas. Ins. Co.*, 135 Wn. App. 760, 145 P.3d 1253 (2006). The Court held that because the agreement was

terminable-at-will, the insurance company could unilaterally reduce the prices it would pay for repair work, and the repair company accepted the new terms by performing work after receiving notice of the change. The Court of Appeals held:

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