FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/12/2019 2:17 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 97429-2 Court of Appeals No. 78356-4-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

STEVEN BURNETT, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Respondent,

v.

PAGLIACCI PIZZA, INC.,

Petitioner.

RESPONDENT'S RESPONSE TO PETITIONER'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Toby J. Marshall, WSBA #32726 Erika L. Nusser, WSBA #40854 Blythe H. Chandler, WSBA #43387 TERRELL MARSHALL LAW GROUP PLLC 936 North 34th Street, Suite 300 Seattle, Washington 98103 Telephone: (206) 816-6603

Attorneys for Plaintiff/Respondent

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

V. ARGUMENTS FOR DENYING REVIEW

A. Pagliacci waived unconscionability arguments based on its contract-by-handbook theory.

In the trial court, Pagliacci first cited the Gagliardi case, which was

decided in 1991, in its request for reconsideration. A motion for reconsideration is not an opportunity to present new theories that could have been raised before entry of an adverse ruling. *Wilcox v. Lexington Eye Inst.*, 130 Wn. App. 234, 241, 122 P.3d 729 (2005) (finding legal theories raised for first time in motion for reconsideration are waived on appeal)); *see also JDFJ Corp. v. Int'l Raceway, Inc.*, 97 Wn. App. 1, 7, 970 P.2d 343 (1999) (same). Even in the Court of Appeals, Pagliacci first made the argument it now presses, that *Gagliardi* precludes a finding of procedural unconscionability, in its reply.

Pagliacci's central arguments in the petition for review should be deemed waived. *See Coweiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992) ("An issue raised and argued for the first time in a reply brief is too late to warrant consideration."). Even if the petition raises debatable issues—and it doesn't—the petition should be denied because Pagliacci's repeated failure to make arguments in a timely manner renders the case a poor vehicle for this Court's review.

B. The decision of the Court of Appeals does not conflict with any other Washington appellate decision regarding employee handbooks.

This Court has not held that "employers can use employee handbooks to create binding contracts." Petition at 10. This Court has held that in some circumstances "employee handbooks give rise to contractual

obligations on the part of the employer." Gagliardi v. Denny's Restaurants, Inc., 117 Wn.2d 426, 432–33, 815 P.2d 1632 (1991) (discussing Thompson v. St. Regis Paper Co., 102 Wn.2d 219, 685 P.2d 1081 (1984)) (emphasis added). Pagliacci characterizes the issue in Gagliardi as whether the employee was bound by the provisions in two handbooks, but that is incorrect. In Gagliardi, the issue was whether the employer breached its contractual obligations to the employee when it terminated her employment. 117 Wn.2d at 431, 815 P.2d 1362. The Court found the employer was bound by promises it made in its handbooks regarding progressive discipline but could unilaterally modify those terms in subsequent handbooks. Id. at 436, 815 P.2d 1362. The employer in Gagliardi was not trying to bind the employee to any obligation; it was defending a breach of contract action by saying that it met its own obligations under the contract.

Because the Court of Appeals found that Pagliacci's Mandatory

Arbitration Policy was incorporated by reference, it did not have to

address Pagliacci's arbitration agreement-by-handbook arguments in the

context of contract formation. Opinion at 7 n.6. Instead, it addressed and

rejected the arbitration agreement-by-handbook argument in the context of

procedural unconscionability. Opinion at 13–18. That decision has no

impact on whether employees may enforce promises *made by employers*

in handbooks, the issue addressed by the cases on which Pagliacci relies. See Opinion at 17 (Gagliardi and Grovier are about "whether an employer was bound by the promises it made to its employee" and aren't relevant where "Pagliacci seeks to bind its employee.").

To the extent there was any question about whether an employer can "impose" arbitration on its employees by putting an arbitration clause in a handbook the employee never signed, the Court of Appeals answered it in the negative: "Pagliacci cites no Washington authority holding that an employer can foist an arbitration agreement on an employee simply by including an arbitration clause in an employee handbook that is provided to the employee." Opinion at 15. There is no such authority because "[a]s an important policy of contract, one who has not agreed to arbitrate generally cannot be required to do so." Woodall v. Avalon Care Ctr.-Federal Way, LLC, 155 Wn. App. 919, 934–35, 231 P.3d 1252 (2010). Pagliacci put its arbitration policy in a handbook that employees were told to read "on your own initiative," instead of in the Employee Relationship Agreement employees signed. Opinion at 19. As a result, employees "lacked meaningful choice," regarding the Mandatory Arbitration Policy, making it procedurally unconscionable. See Adler v. Fred Lind Manor, 153 Wn.2d 331, 348–49, 103 P.3d 773 (2004) ("the key inquiry for finding procedural unconscionability is whether [the employee] lacked

meaningful choice").

The Court of Appeals clearly distinguished on its facts *Tjart v*.

Smith Barney, Inc., 107 Wn. App. 885, 28 P.3d 823 (2001). Opinion at 12.

In *Tjart*, the employee signed the document that contained the arbitration clause. Id. (citing *Tjart*, 107 Wn. App. at 891–92, 28 P.3d 823). In contrast, Mr. Burnett signed Pagliacci's Employee Relationship

Agreement, which does not even use the word arbitration. As the Court of Appeals explained, this case is more like Mattingly v. Palmer Ridge

Homes, LLC, 157 Wn. App. 376, 238 P.3d 505 (2010). Opinion at 9–12.

Pagliacci's petition for review fails to meaningfully engage with the Court of Appeals' discussion of *Tjart* and simply ignores Mattingly. There is no conflict between the Court of Appeals' analysis here and *Tjart*.

Finally, Pagliacci baldly asserts that other employers in this state have imposed mandatory arbitration on their employees via handbook as Pagliacci tried to do here. If any other employers have done so, the Court of Appeals has told them those arbitration clauses are procedurally unconscionable. There is no need for further clarification from this Court.

C. The Court of Appeals correctly applied this Court's precedent to find the Mandatory Arbitration Policy substantively unconscionable.

An arbitration clause is substantively unconscionable "where it is overly or monstrously harsh, is one-sided, shocks the conscience, or is

exceedingly calloused." *Hill v. Garda CL Nw., Inc.*, 179 Wn.2d 47, 55, 308 P.3d 635 (2013) (affirming refusal to enforce arbitration provision in employment contract in case involving wage and hour violations); *see also Zuver v. Airtouch Comms., Inc.*, 153 Wn.2d 293, 303, 103 P.3d 753 (2004) ("Substantive unconscionability involves those cases where a clause or term in the contract is alleged to be one-sided or overly harsh.").

The Court of Appeals applied this Court's well-established standards governing whether an arbitration clause in an employment contract is substantively unconscionable. Opinion at 20–27. Pagliacci suggests that unless the one-sidedness in an arbitration clause arises from a term exactly like terms this Court has already ruled unconscionable, the clause must be enforced. *See* Petition at 16–17 (arguing unconscionability analysis is limited to the "type of provision this Court has found to be substantively unconscionable"). This Court has never so held. And Pagliacci's Mandatory Arbitration Policy *is* unfairly one-sided like clauses this Court has ruled unconscionable.

Pagliacci's "F.A.I.R. Policy, which is a prerequisite to arbitration, contains a limitations provision that is overly harsh." Opinion at 21. The Court of Appeals explained that under *Zuver*, "nonmutual provisions in an arbitration agreement are substantively unconscionable when . . . they have the effect of limiting an employee's ability to access substantive

remedies or discouraging an employee from pursuing valid claims." Opinion at 22.

Pagliacci does not argue that the Court of Appeals applied the wrong standards. Instead, Pagliacci argues that the Court of Appeals misread the terms of the Mandatory Arbitration Policy and F.A.I.R. Policy. Pagliacci quarrels with the conclusion that the F.A.I.R. Policy effectively shortens the statute of limitations for former employees because they cannot comply with the F.A.I.R Policy requirement of first reporting a dispute to the employee's supervisor. *See* Opinion at 23.

According to Pagliacci, the "only reasonable" interpretation of the F.A.I.R. Policy is that it is intended to apply to current employees. Petition at 18.2 But that reading is foreclosed by the plain language of the Mandatory Arbitration Policy. The Mandatory Arbitration Policy provides: "If you believe . . . that the termination of your employment was wrongful, you submit the dispute to resolution in accordance with the F.A.I.R. Policy and if those procedures are not successful in resolving the dispute, you then submit the dispute to binding arbitration." Petition at 9; Opinion at 3. The plain language of the handbook requires employees—to

_

² Pagliacci made this argument to the Court of Appeals for the first time in reply.

follow the F.A.I.R. policy before they can bring their claims in any other forum.

The Court of Appeals' reading of Pagliacci's agreements is entirely correct. It is Pagliacci that ignores two fundamental rules of contract interpretation: (1) words in contracts are given their plain meaning; and (2) written contracts are construed against their drafters. See McKasson v. Johnson, 178 Wn. App. 422, 429, 315 P.3d 1138 (2013). Pagliacci's attempt to rewrite the provisions to save them from unconscionability was properly rejected by the Court of Appeals. See Opinion at 23 (rejecting Pagliacci's "liberal interpretation" of language company drafted). This Court has held that parties "should not be able to load their arbitration agreements full of unconscionable terms and then, when challenged in court, offer a blanket waiver." Gandee, 176 Wn.2d at 608, 239 P.3d 1197. Nor should employers be able to load their arbitration agreements full of terms intended to discourage employees from bringing claims and then, when challenged in court, offer a liberal interpretation that is contradicted by the plain language the employer drafted.

The language of the F.A.I.R. Policy is mandatory, not permissive. *See* Opinion at 3. There is no exception for former employees or for employees who would be required to report claims against a supervisor to that very same supervisor in order to comply with the "F.A.I.R." policy.

See Opinion at 23, 26. The policy provides that an employee "may not commence an arbitration" or "commence a lawsuit" on a claim unless the employee has submitted the claim in conformity with the F.A.I.R. Policy and "fully complied with the steps and procedures in the F.A.I.R. Policy." Opinion at 3. "If you do not comply with a step, rule or procedure in the F.A.I.R. Policy with respect to a claim, you waive any right to raise the claim in any court or other forum, including arbitration." *Id.* The Court of Appeals was also correct in holding that the F.A.I.R. Policy requirement effectively shortens the statute of limitations for all employee claims by "whatever time it takes to complete the procedures set out in the F.A.I.R. Policy." Opinion at 24–26. The Court of Appeals found Pagliacci's limitation on actions unfairly one-sided based on its plain language, not any hypothetical facts. *See* Petition at 17.

Finally, the Court of Appeals was correct that Pagliacci itself at one time believed that the F.A.I.R. requirements applied to former employees. Opinion at 23 n.10. Pagliacci makes the misleading assertion that it has "never argued" that Mr. Burnett waived his right to arbitration because he did not use the F.A.I.R. process. Petition at 10 (emphasis in original). Pagliacci's opening brief in the trial court presented the following as relevant facts: "In violation of the Mandatory Arbitration Policy and signed Employee Relationship Agreement, Plaintiff filed the

instant lawsuit on October 3, 2017. Plaintiff also never requested resolution via Pagliacci's internal F.A.I.R. Policy." Appendix A (Motion to Compel at 3). Whether or not it was an "argument," Pagliacci said that Mr. Burnett acted "in violation" of his agreements with Pagliacci by filing a lawsuit and not requesting resolution of his wage claims via the F.A.I.R. Policy. Mr. Burnett argued to the trial court that "Pagliacci does appear to be preserving the argument that Mr. Burnett failed to comply with FAIR... So maybe their intent is to go to arbitration and say this arbitration should be dismissed for failure to comply with a contractual term." Appendix C (CP at 273:2–9). Pagliacci responded with silence. *Id.* (CP 275:11–279:4).

In short, Pagliacci itself once read its agreements to require that both current and former employees comply with the F.A.I.R. Policy before they may commence arbitration. Pagliacci makes no response to the Court of Appeals' conclusion that such a limitation on actions is unfairly one-sided because it discourages employees from pursuing valid claims.

D. The Court of Appeals' analysis of severance does not conflict with this Court's decisions.

The Court of Appeals held that Pagliacci's arbitration clause could not be saved by severance for three reasons: procedural unconscionability cannot be cured by severance; unfairness pervades Pagliacci's Mandatory Arbitration Policy; and the Policy contains no severance provision.

Opinion at 27–28. In arguing the Court of Appeals' Opinion conflicts with this Court's decisions on severance, Pagliacci assumes both that there is no procedural unconscionability and that the F.A.I.R. Policy is the only grounds for finding substantive unconscionability. Neither assumption is correct as discussed above and in the following section. Procedural unconscionability cannot be cured by severance. The substantive unconscionability here cannot be cured because unfairness pervades the arbitration clause and, as discussed in the next section, both sentences of the Mandatory Arbitration Policy are unfairly one-sided.

E. Whether an employer may enforce an agreement to arbitrate only the employee's claims is an issue of substantial public interest on which the Court of Appeals misread *Zuver*.

If this Court accepts review of Pagliacci's petition, it should also address Mr. Burnett's argument that the Mandatory Arbitration Policy is unconscionable because it requires arbitration of only the employee's claims. The Mandatory Arbitration Policy expressly provides that "you" must comply with the company's mandatory arbitration policy:

If <u>you</u> believe <u>you</u> have been a victim of illegal harassment or discrimination or that <u>you</u> have not been paid for all hours worked or at less than the rate of pay required by law or that the termination of <u>your</u> employment was wrongful, <u>you</u> submit the dispute to resolution in accordance with the F.A.I.R. Policy and if those procedures are not

successful in resolving the dispute, <u>you</u> then submit the dispute to binding arbitration.

Opinion at 3 (emphases added). Pagliacci is not required to arbitrate any claim it may have against an employee—a point Pagliacci has never disputed.

Arbitration provisions that require an employee to arbitrate her claims but do not require the same of her employer are unfairly one-sided and unconscionable. *See Zuver*, 153 Wn.2d at 316–17 & n.16, 103 P.3d 753 (explaining that unilateral arbitration agreements imposed on employee by employer reflect very mistrust of arbitration that FAA is supposed to remedy (quoting *Armendariz v. Found. Health Psychcare Servs., Inc.*, 24 Cal. 4th 83, 120–21, 6 P.3d 669 (2000)). The Court's citation with approval to *Armendariz* reflects agreement with the California Supreme Court's holding that a clause requiring arbitration of only an employee's claims against the employer and not the other way around is unfairly one-sided.

The Court of Appeals pointed to language in *Zuver* indicating that lack of mutuality of obligations alone is not enough to render an arbitration clause unconscionable. Opinion at 22. But unlike Pagliacci's arbitration clause, the clause at issue in *Zuver* required arbitration of "any controversy or dispute" between the employee and employer. 153 Wn.2d at 298, 109 P.3d 753. The one-sided limitation related only to remedies.

Mr. Burnett is not arguing that the parties' commitments under an arbitration clause must be the same—but a clause that requires only the weaker party to arbitrate his claims while permitting the stronger party to take any claim it may have to court is unfairly one-sided and unconscionable. *See Fitz v. NCR Corp.*, 118 Cal. App. 4th 702, 724, 13 Cal. Rptr. 3d 88 (2004) (holding arbitration clause in an employment contract "may be unfairly one-sided if it compels arbitration of the claims more likely to be brought by the weaker party but exempts from arbitration the types of claims that are more likely to be brought by the stronger party").

If the Court accepts Pagliacci's petition for review, it should consider this additional ground for affirmance of the trial court's denial of Pagliacci's motion to compel arbitration.

VI. CONCLUSION

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